
 
 

 

 

TO:               Christine Meinhart-Fritz, Director 

 

FROM:        Eric Koopman, Lead Senior Planner 

   

DATE:  February 18, 2022 

   

SUBJECT:   Country Resorts   

Zoning Ordinance Amendment 

Tobyhanna Township 

   MCPC Review #14-22 
 

The Township of Tobyhanna is proposing amendments to its Zoning Ordinance in regarding ‘Country 

Resorts’.  The amendments propose a definition for this land use which is described as a “boutique 

resort with no more than 100 guest rooms.” This use is to be permitted by right in the Open 

Space/Resource Conservation (OS) zoning district and requires a minimum lot area of 100 acres. 

Associated parking standards are also being proposed.  

 

The above mentioned zoning ordinance amendments have been reviewed on the basis of generally 

accepted planning principles and environmental concerns.  The following technical comments 

concerning the proposed amendments are offered: 

 

1. The proposed ordinance amendment is generally consistent with the PMPC, Act 247 of 1968, as 

amended, in terms of following required procedures.  

 

2. It is unknown if the proposed land use would be consistent with the intent of the OS district. The 

purpose of the district is to “protect fragile environmental and unique natural areas from 

development. The OS District is a residential district.” Due to its nature, ‘Country Resorts’ may be 

better situated in a commercial district. It should be noted that ‘Resorts’ are currently permitted in 

the Commercial (C) district and ‘Commercial Resorts’ are permitted in the residential districts as a 

special exception. This should be discussed.  

 

3. It is unclear how a ‘Country Resort’ is significantly different from a ‘Resort’ as currently defined in 

the Township’s ordinance. The necessity of a separate category land-use should be discussed. If the 

sole intent is to permit resorts in the OS district, additional conditions for permitting ‘Resorts’ in this 

district such as putting a maximum limit of 100 guest rooms would be an alternative to creating a 

new land-use category.  

 

4. The proposed land use permits up to 100 ‘guest rooms’ and allows cottages as part of the overall 

resort. Cottage is not defined, nor is its maximum square footage, or their maximum percentage of 

the overall resort indicated. A single family dwelling in the OS district requires a 10 acre minimum, 

and the density of a country resort could be well above this with potentially 100 cottage units on 100 

acres. While lot coverage is limited to 10%, this does not include non-building impervious coverage 

such as a road network or parking areas. Putting a limit on separate cottages should be addressed.  
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5. Proposed requirements for ‘Country Resorts’ include a minimum lot area of 100 acres, a maximum 

number of 100 guest rooms, and minimum parking standards. The Township should consider 

whether additional requirements to protect sensitive natural features or minimum open space 

requirements beyond what is required by existing ordinance standards would also be appropriate 

considering the intent of the OS district.   

 

6. This proposed use is to be permitted by right in the OS district. The Township is encouraged to 

consider whether requiring conditional use or special exception approval would be more appropriate 

to mitigate the potential impacts of this use on a case by case basis, particularly given the amount of 

environmentally sensitive lands in this district.  

 

7. According to the Coolbaugh, Tobyhanna, Tunkhannock Township, and Mount Pocono Borough 

Regional Comprehensive Plan, June 2005, the majority of the OS zoning district is within the 

Conservation category. This category is intended for the preservation of natural areas, and to provide 

open space and recreation areas for residents. While not entirely consistent with this intent, there are 

some aspects of ‘Country Resorts’ that are consistent with promoting recreation opportunities.   

 

8. If any revisions are made to the proposed amendments, they must be re-submitted to the MCPC for 

review prior to adoption.  This requirement was affirmed by the Pennsylvania Commonwealth Court 

in Hanover Healthcare Plus, Inc. v. Zoning Hearing Board of Penn Township 875 A.2d 1255 (Pa. 

Cmwlth 2005).   

 

The Staff has reviewed the proposed amendments and recommends approval be subject to the above 

noted comments being satisfactorily addressed.  

 

In an attempt to maintain a library of municipal ordinances, we request that any adopted ordinance 

amendments (Zoning, Zoning Map and SALDO) be sent to the MCPC within 30 days of enactment as 

specified in the PMPC. 

 

This review is subject to the approval of the Monroe County Planning Commission at its next regularly 

scheduled meeting.  
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